

**UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA**

**UNITED STATES OF AMERICA**

**v.**

**PAUL J. MANAFORT, JR.,**

**Defendant.**

**Crim. No. 17-201-1 (ABJ)**

**GOVERNMENT’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION  
TO REVOKE OR REVISE DEFENDANT PAUL J. MANAFORT, JR.’S  
CURRENT ORDER OF PRETRIAL RELEASE**

The United States of America, by and through Special Counsel Robert S. Mueller, III, replies to defendant Paul J. Manafort, Jr.’s response (Doc. 319) to the government’s motion to revoke or revise the Court’s order of pretrial release. *See* Doc. 315.

A. On June 8, 2018, a grand jury sitting in the District of Columbia returned a Superseding Indictment charging Manafort and his longtime associate, Konstantin Kilimnik, with attempted witness tampering and conspiracy to commit witness tampering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1512(b)(1) and (k). *See* Doc. 318 ¶¶ 48-51. Counts Six and Seven of that Superseding Indictment “‘conclusively determine[] the existence of probable cause’ to believe the defendant” committed a federal crime while on pretrial release. *Kaley v. United States*, 134 S. Ct. 1090, 1097 (2014) (quoting *Gerstein v. Pugh*, 420 U.S. 103, 117 n.19 (1975)); *see also United States v. Smith*, 79 F.3d 1208, 1210 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (“[T]he indictment alone would have been enough to raise the rebuttable presumption that no condition would reasonably assure the safety of the community.”). Probable cause to believe that Manafort committed a crime, in turn, triggers a rebuttable presumption “that no condition or combination of conditions will assure that [Manafort] will not pose a danger to the safety of any other person or the community.” 18 U.S.C. § 3148(b).

Manafort's challenge to the strength of the government's evidence of witness tampering is thus both misplaced and unavailing. *See Kaley*, 134 S. Ct. at 1098 & n.6 (explaining that "[t]he grand jury gets to say—without any review, oversight, or second-guessing—whether probable cause exists to think that a person committed a crime," and recognizing that this "unreviewed finding . . . may play a significant role in determining a defendant's eligibility for release before trial under the Bail Reform Act").<sup>1</sup>

**B.** The rebuttable presumption triggered by the probable-cause finding "operate[s] *at a minimum* to impose a burden of production on the defendant to offer some credible evidence contrary to the statutory presumption." *United States v. Alatishe*, 768 F.2d 364, 371 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (construing analogous presumption in 18 U.S.C. § 3142(e)(3)); *accord United States v. Cook*, 880 F.2d 1158, 1162 (10th Cir. 1989) (same under Section 3148(b)). That "burden of production may not be heavy," but Manafort cannot carry it through "mere speculation." *United States v. Garcia*, No. 18-cr-132, 2018 WL 2170316, at \*2 (D.D.C. May 10, 2018) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). He must instead present "at least some evidence, or basis to conclude that the presumption has been rebutted in his" case, such as by identifying "special features of his case that take it outside the congressional paradigm giving rise to the presumption." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). And even if Manafort meets his burden of production, "the presumption does not disappear, but rather remains as a factor for consideration in the ultimate release or detention determination." *Cook*, 880 F.2d at 1162.

---

<sup>1</sup> Although the government submits that the grand jury's probable-cause determination obviates the need for testimony by the agent who signed the declaration in support of the government's motion to revoke or revise, the agent will be available to testify if needed per the Court's Order. The government submits, however, that any remaining factual matters can be addressed by proffer, as is common practice at bail hearings. *See Smith*, 79 F.3d at 1210; *see also United States v. LaFontaine*, 210 F.3d 125, 131 (2d Cir. 2000) (calling it "well established . . . that proffers are permissible both in the bail determination and bail revocation contexts").

Manafort has not acknowledged the statutory presumption or carried his burden of rebutting it. Manafort does not set forth facts refuting the government's showing that the Hapsburg group lobbied in the United States, that Manafort was aware of this activity, and that his outreach after the February 2018 Superseding Indictment was an effort to have witnesses conform to a false version of events, *i.e.*, that the Hapsburg group did not lobby in the United States. Rather, asserting that he "has been in full compliance with his reporting obligations to Pretrial Services," Doc. 319 at 8, Manafort urges the Court to accept his most recent proposed bail package and release him from home detention. *See* Doc. 319 at 8. That bail package, however, was designed to address the Court's earlier risk-of-flight finding based on the charges at that time, not the "danger to the safety" of individuals and to "the community" that Manafort is now presumed to pose under Section 3148(b) in light of the existing charges. In short, the bail package that Manafort proposed before the witness-tampering charges does not suffice to rebut the statutory presumption. *Cf. United States v. Wilson*, 820 F. Supp. 1031, 1034 (N.D. Tex. 1993) (defendant's family ties, operation of a business, "and a good record of reporting to the government" did not rebut presumption triggered by a probable-cause finding that he tampered with witnesses).

C. 1. Manafort's primary factual contention is that the story communicated to Persons D1 and D2 was not false because the Hapsburg group was "European-focused." Doc. 319 at 4. But the single document he cites—a July 2012 memorandum—does not engage with the government's proof that the Hapsburg group conducted substantial lobbying activities in the United States beginning in or about September 2012 and continuing into 2014. These United States activities included:

- In September 2012, Manafort and Gates, with the assistance of Persons D1 and D2, arranged for members of the Hapsburg group to lobby on Ukraine’s “urgent” behalf by calling United States Senators involved in the Senate Foreign Relations Committee’s consideration of a resolution condemning the prosecution of former Ukraine Prime Minister Yulia Tymoshenko. *See* Domin Decl. (Doc. 315-2) ¶ 9 & Ex. D. The Hapsburg group’s outreach responded to an “urgent request” from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Ukraine, which stressed that its request for a Hapsburg member to “make an early morning call” to a Senator was an issue “under Big Guy’s personal control”—a reference to President Yanukovich. *See* Domin Decl. (Doc. 315-2), Ex. D, pp. 4-5. In light of this urgency, Person D1 reported that he was “ON IT,” Gates arranged to provide a “direct line to [the Senator’s] office,” and Manafort (who was copied on this initial correspondence) weighed in to “recommend” that the contacted Senator be made aware of the “[Hapsburg member’s] role as a designated representative of the President of the EP” and “of the fact that the US would be getting out front in a political way even further than EP has gotten by passing [the Senate] resolution.” *Id.* at 3-4.<sup>2</sup> Gates confirmed that the message was “delivered” to the Senator’s Chief of Staff, and kept Manafort apprised of the Hapsburg member’s lobbying of the Senators throughout the day. *Id.* at 3.
- In early 2013, Manafort, Gates, and Persons D1 and D2 arranged for a member of the Hapsburg group to meet with U.S. politicians and others in Washington, D.C. Gates and others further arranged for that Hapsburg group member, in conjunction with his Washington D.C. visit, to submit an op-ed to *The Hill*—a newspaper and website published in Washington—after Manafort reviewed and made comments on a draft of the op-ed. *See* Domin Decl. (Doc. 315-2) ¶ 10 & Exs. E, F.
- Also in early 2013, Manafort and Gates worked with Persons D1 and D2 (among others) to arrange for another member of the Hapsburg group to lobby members of Congress in Washington, D.C. *See id.* ¶ 11. Manafort was fully aware of that effort because Gates sent him an agenda reflecting the member’s meetings with United States officials. Manafort had drinks at a Washington hotel with the member and Person D2 at the conclusion of those meetings to discuss how they had gone. *Id.* ¶ 11 & Exs. G, H. Person D2’s report to Person D1 on the day’s events described them as including “meetings at the Senate Foreign Relations Committee” with Republicans and Democrats, and stated that “PJM”—a reference to Manafort—“later said he had received two calls right after the meetings, praising [Hapsburg group member].” Exhibit 1, *infra*.

---

<sup>2</sup> Manafort’s references to the Hapsburg member’s “role” and the “EP” refer to that Hapsburg member’s position as a representative of the European Parliament and the parallel actions of the European Parliament and the United States Senate regarding Tymoshenko’s imprisonment in 2012. That characterization is consistent with Person D2’s description, during a meeting with the government, of that Hapsburg member’s role as Manafort’s “spy and mouthpiece.”

- In 2014, after an editorial regarding Ukraine appeared in *The New York Times*, Gates forwarded the article to Persons D1 and D2 with instructions that a member of the Hapsburg group should write a “response,” Persons D1 and D2 drafted an op-ed on behalf of one of the members of the Hapsburg group, Gates offered comments on the draft, and the op-ed ran in *The New York Times* in or around February 2014. *See id.* ¶ 12 & Exs. I, J, K, L. Gates reported the op-ed’s placement in *The New York Times* to Manafort soon thereafter. *Id.*, Ex. L.

This evidence, unrebutted by Manafort, establishes that the story he urged Persons D1 and D2 to adopt was knowingly false: contrary to the narrative Manafort and Kilimnik conveyed to Persons D1 and D2, the Hapsburg group lobbied in the United States.

2. Manafort’s own words establish the falsity of his representation that the Hapsburg group was “European-focused.” In April 2013, Manafort drafted a report to Ukrainian President Yanukovich—for whom he worked—on the success of the United States political and media lobbying effort, including the work of the Hapsburg group. A redacted copy of Manafort’s memorandum, which was recovered in the court-authorized search of his Virginia residence, is attached as Exhibit 2. (It had been previously produced to Manafort in discovery.)

Manafort’s memorandum to Yanukovich explained that “[t]he strategy for the first quarter of 2013 was to heavily engage with the [U.S. government] and US Congress, using a strategy I built.” Ex. 2, at 1. Manafort noted that “[w]e have aggressively made the case to Congress and the Executive Branch that if sanctions are imposed against Ukraine it will undercut the European initiative to bring Ukraine into the European sphere,” *id.* at 2, and explained that the lobbying effort included “dozens of Congressional offices including the leadership and every member of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee and House Foreign Affairs Committee,” *id.* He further relayed that “[w]e have organized and leveraged the visits of the [Hapsburg member] and [another Hapsburg member] to make critical in-roads in how policymakers view Ukraine. Toward that end, the Chairman of [a Congressional Committee] told [Hapsburg member] that ‘we must continue to

encourage pro-western forces in Ukraine.” *Id.* And, as to public relations, Manafort reported that “[s]ince the beginning of 2013, we have been working across traditional and social media platforms to build a positive narrative for Ukraine in the US.” *Id.* at 3. That outreach included placement of Hapsburg group op-eds in American media, including the op-ed in *The Hill* described above. Manafort described that placement as amounting to “a significant publication in Washington, DC that is delivered to every congressional office, the White House, and all U.S. federal agencies.” *Id.* Manafort also reported that his outreach and strategy included “pitching our narrative and messaging to key reporters and editors at the Washington Post, the Wall Street Journal, and New York Times”—all United States newspapers of record. Manafort described the United States efforts as “help[ing] the broader Washington community understand the importance of the US for Ukraine to further its relationships with the West.” *Id.*<sup>3</sup>

3. With respect to the tampering efforts after the February Superseding Indictment, Manafort does not deny that he had not communicated with Persons D1 or D2 for a lengthy period prior to February 2018, that shortly after the February 2018 charges he reached out to Person D1 by phone and messaging application, that Kilimnik contacted Persons D1 and D2 via messaging applications after Manafort’s efforts were rebuffed, or that Kilimnik acted on Manafort’s behalf when he did so. Manafort argues instead that his conduct is not as egregious as the facts in the Section 1512(b)(1) cases cited by the government. But Manafort cannot and does not dispute the central legal rule recognized in those decisions—namely, that Section 1512(b)(1) reaches “non-coercive attempt[s] to persuade a witness to lie to investigators,” *United States v. Baldrige*, 559 F.3d 1126, 1142 (10th Cir.), *cert. denied*, 556 U.S. 1226 (2009), including attempts “to persuade

---

<sup>3</sup> Of note, in order to avoid paying VAT tax, one proposed contract with a Hapsburg group member’s company stated that the group would not perform work in Europe.

a witness to give a false account that track[s] the defendant's position," *United States v. LaShay*, 417 F.3d 715, 718 (7th Cir. 2005); accord *United States v. Edlind*, 887 F.3d 166, 174 (4th Cir. 2018) (cited in Doc. 319 at 5-6) (explaining that "corrupt persuasion includes situations where a defendant coaches or reminds witnesses by planting misleading facts"). The facts set forth in Special Agent Domin's declaration and the accompanying exhibits establish that Manafort engaged in just such brazen efforts at corrupt persuasion, while under house arrest in a closely-watched federal case.<sup>4</sup>

**D.** Finally, Manafort says that the Court's release order did not contain a condition barring him from contacting certain individuals. *See* Doc. 319 at 7-8.<sup>5</sup> That has no bearing on the Court's inquiry under Section 3148(b)(1)(A). Pursuant to that provision, the government has based its revocation motion on probable cause to believe that Manafort committed the federal crime of witness tampering while on release, not on the violation of a no-contact bail condition, *see id.* § 3148(b)(1)(B). *See also United States v. LaFontaine*, 210 F.3d 125, 132-133 (2d Cir. 2000) (separately analyzing Section 1512(b)(1) violation where the defendant's interactions with a witness also violated a no-contact order). For the same reason, Manafort's claim that he could not have attempted to tamper with witnesses because he did not know precisely who the government

---

<sup>4</sup> Manafort points out (Doc. 319 at 7) that a Section 1512(b) violation based on corrupt persuasion requires that the defendant be "conscious of wrongdoing," *Arthur Andersen, LLP v. United States*, 544 U.S. 696, 705-706 (2005). The grand jury found that *mens rea*, and it is readily inferable from the timing, content, and coordination of Manafort's and Kilimnik's outreach to Persons D1 and D2, including Manafort's use of an intermediary (*i.e.*, Kilimnik) to reach them when his own efforts were rebuffed.

<sup>5</sup> Manafort's release order in the Eastern District of Virginia required him to "avoid all contact, directly or indirectly, with any person who is a victim or witness in the investigation or prosecution of the defendant" in connection with his release to home confinement in the Eastern District of Virginia. *See* Order, *United States v. Manafort*, No. 18-cr-83 (TSE) (March 9, 2018) (Doc. 25).

planned to call as trial witnesses defies common sense. Manafort would have had no other reason to reach out to Persons D1 and D2 about the Hapsburg group's geographic reach—after a long period of no communication, and immediately after the Superseding Indictment issued, *see* Domin Decl. (Doc. 315-2) ¶¶ 14-16—if he did not expect the government to seek testimony from them. And he would have no reason to feed them a false narrative if he did not believe it would help protect him at trial.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons and those set forth in the government's motion (Doc. 315), the Court should revoke or revise its current Order authorizing Manafort's release to the Pretrial Services Agency's high-intensity supervision program.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT S. MUELLER, III  
Special Counsel

Dated: June 12, 2018

By:

/s/ Andrew Weissmann

Andrew Weissmann  
Greg D. Andres (D.D.C. Bar No. 459221)  
Scott A.C. Meisler  
Brian M. Richardson  
Special Counsel's Office  
950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW  
Washington, DC 20530  
Telephone: (202) 616-0800

*Attorneys for the United States of America*